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Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Management of Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank” (*the Bank”) is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024,
the related statement of profit or loss, comprehensive income for the year then ended, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and of material accounting policies and notes to the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB").

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for:

» properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

¢ presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information;

e providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Bank'’s financial
position and financial performance; and

¢ making an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

¢ designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls, throughout
the Bank;

¢ maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Bank's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Bank, and which enable them to ensure
that the financial statements of the Bank comply with IFRS;

¢ maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation and accounting standards of the Republic
of Uzbekistan;

On behalf ofjthe Management Boar ¢
i

Faleyev Beibit Khamitovich

Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant
17 June 2025 17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan Tashkent, Uzbekistan




- “Deloitte & Touche”
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder and the Council of Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank” (the “Bank”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS accounting standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“"IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of
Uzbekistan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

'T_urgunboy Tokhirov, Qualifre/a'Auditor/Engagement Partner
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Deloitte

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue
as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report of findings from procedures performed in accordance with the requirements of Law
of the Republic of Uzbekistan No. LRU-580 dated 5 November 2019 “On Banks and Banking
Activity”

Management of the Bank is responsible for the Bank’s compliance with prudential ratios set by the
Central bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan (“*Central bank”) and ensuring that internal control and
organization of risk management systems comply with Central bank requirements.

In accordance with Articles 74 of Law of the Republic of Uzbekistan No. LRU-580 dated 5 November
2019 “On Banks and Banking Activity” (the “Law”), we have performed procedures to check:

— the Bank’s compliance with prudential ratios as at 31 December 2024 set by the Central bank;

— whether the elements of the Bank’s internal control and organization of risk management systems
comply with Central bank requirements.

These procedures were selected based on our judgment, and were limited to an analysis and study of
documents; a comparison of the Bank’s approved requirements, procedures and methodologies with
Central bank requirements, as well as recalculations, comparisons and reconciliations of numerical data
and other information. Our findings from the procedures performed are as follows.

Based on our procedures with respect to the Bank’s compliance with prudential ratios set by the Central
bank, we found that the Bank’s prudential ratios as at 31 December 2024, were within the limits set by
the Central bank.

N

Turgunboy Tokhirov, Qualifieg-Auditor/Engagement Partner
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We have not performed any procedures on the underlying accounting data of the Bank, other than those
which we considered necessary to enable us to express an opinion as to whether the Bank’s financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December
2024, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB.

Based on our procedures with respect to whether the elements of the Bank’s internal control and
organization of risk management systems comply with Central bank requirements, we found that:

. in accordance with Central bank requirements and recommendations, as at 31 December
2024, the Bank’s internal audit function was subordinated and accountable to the Council, and
the risk management function of the Bank was not subordinated and accountable to
subdivisions assuming corresponding risks;

° the frequency of reports prepared by the Bank’s internal audit function during 2024 complied
with Central bank requirements. The reports were approved by the Bank’s Council and
included observations made by the Bank’s internal audit function in respect of internal control
systems;

3 as at 31 December 2024 the Bank has an information security function in place as required
by the Central bank, and an information security policy was approved by the Bank’s
Management Board. The information security function was subordinated to and reported
directly to the Chairman of the Management Board;

° reports by the Bank’s information security function to the Chairman of the Management Board
during 2024 included an assessment and analysis of information security risks, and the results
of actions to manage such risks;

° the Bank’s internal documentation, effective as at 31 December 2024, that sets out
methodologies to identify and manage the Bank’s significant risks, and carry out stress-
testing, was approved by the Bank’s authorised management bodies in accordance with
Central bank requirements and recommendations;

° as at 31 December 2024, the Bank maintained a system for reporting on the Bank’s significant
risks, and on the Bank's capital;

. the frequency during 2024 of reports prepared by the Bank’s risk management functions, and
which cover the Bank’'s management of significant risks, was in compliance with the Bank'’s
internal documentation. Those reports included observations made by the Bank’s risk
management functions as to their assessment of the Bank’s significant risks;

° as at 31 December 2024, the Council and Management of the Bank had responsibility to
monitor the Bank’s compliance with risk and capital adequacy limits set by Bank internal
documentation. To exercise control over the effectiveness of Bank’s risk management
procedures and their consistent application during 2024, the Council and Management of the
Bank regularly discussed the reports prepared by the risk management and internal audit
functions of the Bank, and considered proposed measures to eliminate weaknesses.

Procedures with respect to elements of the Bank'’s internal control and organization of risk management
systems were performed solely for the purpose of examining whether these elements, as prescribed by
the Law and as described above, comply with Central bank requirements.

—_
—

“Deloitte & Touche” Audit Organisation LLC Turg oy Tokhirov

is included in the register of audit organisations  Qualified Auditor/Engagement Director

of the Ministry of Economy and Finance of the Auditor qualification certificate authorizing audit
Republic of Uzbekistan dated 8 June 2021 of companies, #05422 dated 20 August 2016
issued by the Ministry of Economy and Finance
of the Republic of Uzbekistan

Auditor qualification certificate authorizing audit
of banks, #6/11 dated 29 March 2021 issued by
the Central bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan

17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan

Acting Director
“Deloitte & Touche” Audit Organisation LLC




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Note 31 December 31 December
2024 2023
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,417,919 1,754,901
Due from banks 7 245,677 116,371
Loans to customers 8 4,536,957 4,357,139
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 9 135,943 105,151
Investment securities at amortised cost 10 435,050 -
Property, equipment and intangible assets 11 534,528 421,385
Investment Property 12 13,371 13,371
Current income tax prepayment 8,106 12,064
Other assets 13 69,782 82,768
TOTAL ASSETS 8,397,333 6,863,150
LIABILITIES N
Amounts due to credit institutions 14 72,941 92,882
Deposits from the Parent 15 3,099,371 2,643,606
Customer accounts 16 3,490,380 2,580,853
Other liabilities 17 50,122 82,794
Other borrowed funds 18 26,068 -
Deferred income tax liability 24 71,004 38,164
TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,809,886 5,438,299
EQUITY
Share capital 19 1,149,000 1,149,000
Retained earnings and other reserves 438,447 275,851
TOTAL EQUITY 1,587,447 1,424,851
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8,397,333 6,863,150
On behalf of the Mabagemefit Board=
’ /j@vzﬁ‘
Faleyev Beibit Khamitovich Kassenova Marzhan Nurtayevna
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant
17 June 2025 17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan Tashkent, Uzbekistan

The notes on pages 9 - 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Note 2024 2023
Interest income 20 864,514 744,422
Interest expense 20 (521,183) (429,068)
Net interest income before allowance for expected
credit losses on loans to customers 343,331 315,354
Recovery of expected credit losses 22
on loans to customers 111,890 16,673
Net interest income 455,221 332,027
Fee and commission income 21 49,904 45,975
Fee and commission expense 21 (49,073) (42,829)
Net gain from trading in foreign currencies 120,194 84,591
Net (loss)/gain from foreign exchange translation (5,520) 12,502
Other income 24,906 18,291
Allowance for other expected credit losses 22 (16,198) (417)
Net non-interest income & 124,213 118,113
Operating income 579,434 450,140
Operating expenses 23 (357,045) (257,655)
Profit before income tax 222,389 192,485
Income tax expense 24 (55,042) (46,025)
Net profit for the year 167,347 146,460
Other Comprehensive income
Items subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Reclassification adjustment relating to financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income disposed in the period (4,945) -
Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 194 4,945
Other comprehensive income for the year 194 4,945
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 162,596 151,405
On behalf of kthe M%nag ent Board:
)
i
Faleyev Beibit Khamitovich Kassenova Marzhan Nurtayevna
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant
17 June 2025 17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan Tashkent, Uzbekistan

The notes on pages 9 - 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Revaluation
. reserve of
Share capital :‘:It_:'i:e: financial asset Total equity
9 measured at
FVTOCI
31 December 2022 1,149,000 124,446 - 1,273,446
Net profit for the year - 146,460 - 146,460
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 4,945 4,945
Total comprehensive income
for the year - 146,460 4,945 151,405
31 December 2023 1,149,000 270,906 4,945 1,424,851
Net profit for the year - 167,347 = 167,347
Reclassification adjustment relating
to financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income disposed in the period = o (4,945) (4,945)
Other comprehensive income for the year . - - 194 194
Total comprehensive income
for the year - 167,347 (4,751) 162,596
31 December 2024 1,149,000 438,253 194 1,587,447

On behalf of the Management Board:

]

Faleyev Beibit Khamitovich

Kassenova Marzhan Nurtayevna

Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant
17 June 2025 17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan Tashkent, Uzbekistan

The notes on pages 9 - 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Note 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received 827,922 707,445
Interest paid (497,247) (414,516)
Fees and commissions received 47,913 45,992
Fees and commissions paid (49,073) (42,829)
Receipts from trading in foreign currencies 120,194 84,591
Other operating income received 24,906 18,291
Staff costs paid (178,802) (125,184)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid (129,969) (87,459)
Income tax paid (18,244) (9,000)
Cash flows from operating activities before
changes in operating assets and liabilities 147,600 177,331
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net (increase)/decrease in due from banks (127,796) 126,564
Net decrease/(increase) in loans to customers 16,911 (1,687,134)
Net increase in other assets N (5,686) (53,673)
Net (decrease)/increase in amounts due to credit institutions (21,117) 86,215
Net increase in customer accounts 903,273 982,038
Net (decrease)/increase in other liabilities (122) 14,188
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 913,063 (354,471)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets (134,656) (312,268)
Purchase of financial assets measured at FVTOCI (123,399) (97,646)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets measured at FVTOCI 95,364 =
Purchase of investment securities at amortized cost (435,099) =
Return of advances paid for property, equipment and intangible assets 13 - 10,779
Net cash used in investing activities (597,790) (399,135)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from other borrowed funds 15 26,048 =
Proceeds from deposits from the Parent 15 2,919,068 4,412,498
Repayment of deposits from the Parent 15 (2,576,355) (3,525,895)
Repayment of lease liability (29,547) (12,458)
Net cash from financing activities 339,214 874,145
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 8,531 53,402
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 663,018 173,941
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the beginning of the year 6 1,754,901 1,580,960
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the end of the year 6 2,417,919 1,754,901
Non-cash transactions
Assets held for sale 15,212 =

On behalf of the Mahagenent Board:

7

Faleyev Beibit Khamitovich
Chairman of the Board Chief Accountant
17 June 2025

Tashkent, Uzbekistan

17 June 2025
Tashkent, Uzbekistan

The notes on pages 9 - 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Kassenova Marzhan Nurtayevna

@




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

1. Principal activities

Joint Stock Commercial Bank "Tenge Bank" was founded as Joint Stock Commercial Bank on 18 May 2019 in
accordance with dezision of the Board of Directors of Joint Stock Company “Halyk Bank”, the sole shareholder of the
Bank (*JSC Halyk Bank” or “the Parent”) who remains the owner as at 31 December 2024,

The Bank provides corporate and retail banking services principally in Uzbekistan. The Bank operates under license
No. 85 for carrying out banking and foreign exchange activities, issued by the Central bank of Uzbekistan (*CBU") on
25 December 2021

The Bank participazes in the state deposit insurance scheme introduced by the Uzbek Law #360-II “Insurance of
Individual Bank Deoosit” dated 5 April 2002, On 28 November 2008, the President of Uzbekistan issued the Decree
#UP-4057 stating that in case of the bank license withdrawal, the State Deposit Insurance Fund guarantees
repayment of 100% of individual deposits regardless of the deposit amount.

The Bank’s primary business includes originating loans and guarantees, collecting deposits, trading in foreign
currencies, executing transfers, cash and payment card operations, as well as rendering other banking services to its
customers.

The Bank’s legal acdress is 66 Parkent Street, Yashnabad District, 100007, Tashkent, Republic of Uzbekistan.

31 December 31 December

Shareholders 2024 2023
JSC "Halyk Bank" 100% 100%
Total 100% 100%

Operating environment

Emerging markets such as Uzbekistan are subject to different risks than more developed markets, including economic,
political and social and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Uzbekistan continue
to change rapidly, while tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future economic
direction of Uzbekistan is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government, together
with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

Because Uzbekistan produces and exports gold in large volume, its economy is sensitive to the global gold price,
which fluctuated sgnificantly in 2024, averaging 2,388.00 US Dollar per troy ounce (2023: 1,943.00 US Dollar per
troy ounce).

The military and political conflict between Russia and Ukraine escalated in early 2022. As a result, several countries
introduced economic sanctions against Russia and Belarus, including measures to ban new investment and restrict
interaction with major financial institutions and many state enterprises. Since a significant portion of remittances to
Uzbekistan comes From Russia, fluctuations in their flow depend on the nature of the sanctions imposed, their impact
on the Russian economy, and the devaluation of the Russian ruble. Because these factors change from year to year,
the exact impact an Uzbekistan's financial environment remains uncertain and difficult to predict.

Uzbekistan is currently taking significant steps to join the World Trade Organization, which may significantly change
market rules for lacal players and open up new opportunities to participants from outside of Uzbekistan. The process
may require significant changes in national legislation.

At the end of 2024, Uzbekistan’s gross domestic product ("GDP") grew by 6.5% (2023: 6.0%). Inflation in the country
increased to 9.8% per annum in 2024 (2023: 8.8%). In July 2024, the Central Bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan
reduced base rate to 13.5% per annum compared to 14% per annum at the beginning of the period. However,
uncertainty still exists related to the future development of geopolitical risks and their impact on the economy of
Uzbekistan.

Management of the Bank is monitoring developments in the economic, political, and geopolitical situation and taking
measures it consders necessary to support the sustainability and development of the Bank’s business for the
foreseeable future. However, the consequences of these events and related future changes may have a significant
impact on the Bark’s operations.




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

2. Basis of preparation

Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Bank is a going concern, as the Bank have the
resources to continJe its operations for the foreseeable future. In making this assessment, the Management have
considered a wide range of information in relation to present and future economic conditions, including projections of
cash flows, profit amd resources.

As a result, the Mamagement believes that the Bank will continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
Statement of conmrpliance

These financial statzments have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS
Accounting Standasds”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“"IASB").

These financial statements are presented in millions of Uzbekistan Soums ("UZS million"), unless otherwise indicated.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into
account the characeristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope o° IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inptts are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, =ither directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Bank presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or
settlement within 12 months after the statement of financial position date (current) and more than 12 months after
the statement of financial position date (non-current) is presented in Note 26.

Functional curreacy

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Bank operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the Bank is UZS. The
presentation currency of the financial statements is UZS.

3. Material accounting policy information

Cash and cash ejuivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent accounts, amounts due
from credit institutions and short-term investments with original maturities of less than three months. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried net of any allowance for expected credit losses. Effective 1 July 2024, the Central Bank of the
Republic of Uzbekistan has implemented a revised framework allowing 100% of the mandatory reserves to be
maintained in the Bank’s correspondent account with the Central Bank under an averaging mechanism which permits
daily balance fluct Jations provided the average meets regulatory thresholds. Under the previous rules, the commercial
banks were requirad to hold only 80% of the mandatory reserves within their correspondent accounts with the Central
Bank, while the remaining 20% was held in a specifically designated account with the Central Bank, which was
unavailable for us2 in ordinary operating activities of the Bank.

Due from banks

In the normal coLrse of business, the Bank maintains current accounts or deposits for various periods of time with
other banks. Due From banks with a fixed maturity term are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the

10



Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

effective interest method. Those that do not have fixed maturities are carried at cost. Due from banks are carried net
of any allowance for expected credit losses.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments

The Bank recognizes financial assets and liabilities on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to
the contractual obligations of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are
recognized using settlement date accounting. Where regular way purchases of financial instruments will be
subsequently measred at fair value, the Bank accounts for any change in the fair value of the asset between trade
date and settlemen: date in the same way it accounts for acquired instruments.

Financial assets ard financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities t fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial | abilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. The accounting policies for subsequent re-measurement of
these items are diszlosed in the respective accounting policies set out below.

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified
at FVTPL. Transac-ion costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at FVTPL are
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

All recognized Financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“IFRS 9”) are required to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Specifically:

. Retenton of an asset to obtain the cash flows stipulated by the contract. This business model suggests
financial asset management aims to realize cash flows by receiving principal and interest payments over
the life of the financial instrument. Within the framework of this business model, holding a financial asset
to matJrity is a priority, but early disposal is not prohibited.

. Retenton of an asset with a view for obtaining contractual cash flows and sale of financial assets. This
business model assumes that the management of financial assets is aimed at both obtaining contractual
cash flows and sale of financial assets. Within the framework of this business model, the receipt of cash
from the sale of a financial asset is a priority, which is characterized by a greater frequency and volume
of sales compared to "holding an asset to receive contractual cash flows" business model.

. Retenton of an asset for other purposes. Within the framework of this business model, financial assets
can be managed with the following purposes:

- ranagement with a view to selling cash flows through the sale of financial assets;
- Iquidity management to meet daily funding needs;
- & portfolio, which management and performance is measured on a fair value basis.

In accordance with IFRS 9, financial assets are classified as follows:

. bank leans classified as assets at amortised cost are contained within the framework of a business model
which 3ims to receive cash flows exclusively for repayment of unpaid interest and principal stipulated by
loan agreement and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“*SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding;

. balanc=s on correspondent accounts, interbank loans/deposits, repo transactions are classified, as a rule,
as assets, estimated at amortised cost, since they are managed within the framework of a business model,
which aims to receive cash flows stipulated by the contract, and that have contractual cash flows that are

SPPI;

. debt s=curities may be classified into any of the three classification categories, taking into account the
selected business model and compliance with the SPPI criterion;

. equity securities are generally classified as instruments at fair value through profit or loss;

. trading securities and derivatives are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or los
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Debt instruments at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

The Bank assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the asset and the Bank’s business model for managing the asset.

For an asset to be cassified and measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

For the purpose of S>PI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. That principal amount
may change over the life of the financial asset (e.g. if there are repayments of principal). Interest consists of
consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during
a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI assessment
is made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that introduce
exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such
as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are SPPI.
An originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a loan in
its legal form.

An assessment of bsiness models for managing financial assets is performed at the date of initial application of IFRS
g to determine the classification of a financial asset. The business model is applied retrospectively to all financial
assets existing at the date of initial application of IFRS 9. The Bank determines the business models at a level that
reflects how Banks of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. The Bank’s
business model does not depend on management’s intentions for an individual instrument; therefore, the business
model assessment = performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

The Bank has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments that reflect how the Bank manages
its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.

The Bank’s business models determine whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
financial assets or both.

The Bank considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. However, this
assessment is not performed based on scenarios that the Bank does not reasonably expect to occur, such as so-called
‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Bank takes into account all relevant evidence available such as:

o How the peformance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are
evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

« The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; and

« How managzrs of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Bank determines whether newly recognized financial assets are part of
an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model. The Bank reassess
its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models have changed since the
preceding period. For the current reporting period, the Bank has not identified a change in its business models.

When a debt instrtment measured at FVTOCI is derecognized, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCI
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an equity investment designated as measured at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gai/loss previously recognized in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but transferred
within equity. Dektt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are subject to
impairment.

Loans to customsars

Loans to customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Lozns to customers granted by the Bank are initially recognised at fair value plus related transaction
costs that directly relate to acquisition or creation of such financial assets. Subsequently, loans are carried out at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Loans to customers are carried net of any allowance for expected
credit losses.
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Collateral

The Bank obtains collateral in respect of customer liabilities where this is considered appropriate. The collateral
normally takes the Form of a lien over the customer’s assets and gives the Bank a claim on these assets for both
existing and future -ustomer liabilities.

Reclassification o” financial assets

If the business mcdel under which the Bank holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are
reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from
the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that result in reclassifying the Bank'’s
financial assets. Changes in contractual cash flows are considered under the accounting policy on Modification and
derecognition of financial assets described below.

Modification and de-ecognition of financial assets

A modification of a tinancial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset are
renegotiated or otterwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification
affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. In addition, the
introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute a modification even if these new
or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may affect the cash flows depending on
whether the covenznt is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest rate that arises when covenants
are breached).

Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been
renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously monitors renegotiated loans to
ensure that they ar= performing and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an
individual or colleciive impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate (“"EIR").
Renegotiated terms are evidence of impairment for loans assessed for impairment on an individual basis, for which
deterioration of the financial position is observed.

The Bank renegotiaces loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximize collection and minimize the risk of default.
A loan forbearance is granted in cases where although the borrower made all reasonable efforts to pay under the
original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the borrower is expected
to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the maturity of
the loan, changes o the timing of the cash flows of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction in the
amount of cash flaws due (principal and interest forgiveness) and amendments to covenants. The Bank has an
established forbearance policy, which applies for corporate and retail lending.

When a financial asset is modified the Bank assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In accordance
with the Bank’s po icy, a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To
determine if the modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms the Bank considers
qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows modification are no longer SPPI, change in currency or change of
counterparty, the extent of change in interest rates, maturity, covenants.

When a financial asset is modified due to commercial reasons, the Bank considers various qualitative factors (change
in currency, interest rate, maturity) and on that basis concludes whether old loan should be derecognised and new
loan should be recognised at fair value.

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised the loss aliowance for ECL is remeasured at the date of
derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this revised
carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on
derecognition. The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the rare
occasions where the new loan is considered to be originated credit-impaired asset. This applies only in the case where
the fair value of th= new loan is recognized at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains
a high risk of default, which has not been reduced by the modification.
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Impairment
Calculation of finandal assets impairment is carried out taking into account the following factors:

. In orderto calculate the ECL, the Bank performs loan assessment on an individual basis and on a collective
basis depending on general credit risk features.

. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the
present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Bank under the contract and the cash
flows that the Bank expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios,
discounted at the asset's EIR.

. Calculatons are based on justified and verified information, which may be received without any significant
costs orefforts. Calculation of the present value of the expected future cash flows of the secured financial
asset reflects the cash flow that may result from foreclosure, less the cost of obtaining and selling
collateral, regardless of whether the recovery is probable or not. The allowance is based on the Bank's
own experience in assessing losses and management assumptions about the level of losses likely to be
recognised on assets in each category of credit risk, based on debt servicing capabilities and borrower's
credit track record.

. Impairreent for treasury operations (investments in debt securities, reverse repurchase transactions,
interbark loans and deposits, correspondent account transactions, accounts receivable under treasury
transactions) is calculated taking into account the counterparty's rating, probability of default, duration
of a transaction and the extent of loss in case of a default.

. The estimated credit losses for treasury operations are estimated on an individual basis (except for
individual claims in the form of receivables).

Financial assets are segmented by stages in accordance with the following approach:

. Stage 1: There is no significant increase in credit risk since recognition of an asset, impairment is
recognised as expected losses over the next 12 months;
. Stage 2: Significant increase in credit risk since recognition of an asset, impairment is recognised as

expected losses over the life of a financial asset;
. Stage 3: Financial asset is in default or has signs of impairment.

Allowances for expected credit losses
ECLs are required t© be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

. 12-morth ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

. full lifeeme ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial
instrurrent, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

A loss allowance fo- full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an
amount equal to the 12-month ECL.

The Bank measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar risk
characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s expected cash
flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the
amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as
default is a compcnent of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the
identification of a dgnificant increase in credit risk.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is “credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets.
Evidence of creditimpairment includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
. a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
. the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial

difficulzy, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
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. the disaspearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or
. the purdhase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event instead; the combined effect of several events may have
caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Bank assesses whether debt instruments that are financial
assets measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign and
corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Bank considers factors such as bond yields, credit ratings and the
ability of the borrower to raise funding.

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in the
borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the risk of not
receiving the contrectual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. For
financial assets whee concessions are contemplated but not granted, the asset is deemed credit impaired when there
is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of default. The definition of default
includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a backstop if amounts are overdue for 90 days or more. The decision to
use cross-default is based on case by case assessment of borrower and facility conditions such as collateral and
materiality of exposure.

Write off

Loans are written off when the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering the financial asset (either in its
entirety or in a portion of it). This is the case when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets or
sources of income taat could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. The Bank may apply enforcement activities to financial assets written off.
Recoveries resultinc from the Bank’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains. Where loans are secured,
they are generally written off after receipt of any proceeds from the sale of collateral. When such net realizable value
of collateral has been determined and no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write off may be earlier.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets

A financial asset (ar, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised where:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive
cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

. the Bank either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

A financial asset is derecognised when it has been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transfer
requires that the Benk either: (a) transfers the contractual rights to receive the asset’s cash flows; or (b) retains the
right to the asset's cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to a third party. After a
transfer, the Bank r=assesses the extent to which it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred
asset. If substantia ly all the risks and rewards have been retained, the asset remains on the statement of financial
position. If substan-ially all of the risks and rewards have been transferred, the asset is derecognized. If substantially
all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor transferred, the Bank assesses whether or not is has retained
control of the asset If it has not retained control, the asset is derecognized. Where the Bank has retained control of
the asset, it continLes to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.

Modification and dexecognition of financial liabilities

The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The cifference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

When the Bank exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially different
terms, such excharge is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a
new financial liability. Similarly, the Bank accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part
of it as an extinguishment of the origina! financial liabitity and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that
the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net o° any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification is
not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
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present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification gain or
loss within other ga ns and losses.

Taxation
The current income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations of the Republic of Uzbekistan.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred income tax arises
from the initial reccgnition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of -he transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asse- is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability Is settled, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substan-ively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to other
comprehensive incame or equity. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset and reported net in the
statement of finandal position if:

« the Bank has a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax assets against current income tax
liabilitiess and

« deferred income tax assets and the deferred income tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

Uzbekistan has varous operating taxes that are assessed on the Bank’s activities. These taxes are recorded as taxes
other than income Zax.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. Right to
use land are carried at cost.

Except for permanent right to use land, depreciation of a property and equipment begins when it is available for use.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Right to use a land plot Not depreciated
Vehicles 5
Computers and banking equipment 5-7

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related leased asset. Expenses related to repairs and
renewals are charced when incurred and included in operating expenses unless they qualify for capitalization.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to assess whether they are
recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and where carrying values exceed this estimated recoverable
amount, assets ar= written down to their recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized in the respective
period and is included in operating expenses.

Intangible assets

The Bank’s intangble assets have finite useful lives and primarily comprise capitalised computer software. Acquired
computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring them to use. All
other costs assocated with computer software, e.g. its maintenance, are expensed when incurred. Capitalised
computer software is amortised on a straight line basis over expected useful lives of five years.

Customer accounts, Amounts due to credit institutions and Deposits from Parent

Customer accounts, due to credit institutions and deposits from Parent are initially recognized at the fair value of the
consideration receved less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, amounts due are stated at amortized
cost and any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the statement of profit or
loss over the pericd of the borrowings using the effective interest method. If the Bank purchases its own debt, it is
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removed from the statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and
the consideration paid is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Other borrowed funds
These funds include borrowings from government and financial institutions and are carried at amortised cost.

The Bank obtains Icng-term and short-term financing from government and other international financial institutions
at interest rates at which such institutions ordinarily lend in emerging markets, and which may be lower than rates
at which the Bank culd source the funds from local lenders. As a result of such financing, the Bank is able to advance
funds in the form of mortgage loans to specific customers at advantageous rates. Management has considered
whether gains or losses should arise on initial recognition of such instruments. As the transactions are with unrelated
parties, management’s judgement is that these funds and the related lending are at the market rates and no initial
recognition gains or losses should arise. In making this judgement management also considered that these
instruments are a separate market segment.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
in equity as a dediction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over
the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity, if any.

Recognition of income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments are recognized in ‘Net interest income’ as ‘Interest income’
and ‘Interest experse’ in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method.

The EIR is the rate chat exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial instrument through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or financial 1ability. The future cash flows are estimated taking into account all the contractual terms of the
instrument.

The calculation of the EIR includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are
incremental and di-ectly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other premiums
or discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss at initial recognition.

The interest incomne/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit
impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss
allowance), or to the amortized cost of financial liabilities.

For credit-impairec financial assets, the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses). For
financial assets POCI the EIR reflects the expected credit losses in determining the future cash flows expected to be
received from the “inancial asset.

Fee and commission income

Fee and commissien income is recognised to reflect the transfer of services to customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for such services. The Bank identifies the performance
obligation, i.e. the services agreed with the customer, and the consideration, and recognizes income in line with the
transfer of services, the performance obligation, agreed with the customer.

For each performance obligation identified, the Bank determines at contract inception whether it satisfies the
performance obligation over time or at a point in time, and whether the consideration is fixed or variable, including
whether consideration is constrained by, for instance, external factors outside the Bank’s influence. The consideration
is subsequently alocated to the identified performance obligation. Fee and commission income from maintenance of
customer accounts and cash operations include fees earned from deposit products in lieu of compensating balances,
service charges fcr transactions performed upon depositors’ request, as well as fees earned from performing cash
management activities. Service charges on deposit products are recognized over the period in which the related
service is providec, typically monthly. Service fees are recognized at a point in time upon completion of the requested
service transactiom. Fees on cash management products are recognized over time as services are provided.

Other banking fees include fees for various transactional banking activities such as bank transfers, letters of credit
fees and other transactional services. These fees are recognized in a manner that reflects the timing of when
transactions occur and as services are provided. Letter of credit fees primarily includes fees received related to letter
of credit agreements and are generally recognized upon execution of the contract
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Staff costs and re ated contributions

Wages, salaries, contributions to Uzbekistan state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick
leave, bonuses, anc non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by
the employees. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or simitar benefit payments beyond
the payments to the statutory defined contribution scheme.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Bank is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates
and the Bank’s presentation currency is the national currency of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Uzbek Soum (*UZS").
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the Bank’s functional currency at the official exchange rate of the
CBU at the end of r=spective reporting period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets amd liabilities into Bank’s functional currency at year-end official exchange rates of the CBU are
recognised in profiz or loss. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency, including equity
investments, are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Effects of
exchange rate charges on non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are recorded as part of
the fair value gain or loss. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the principal rate of exchange used for translating
foreign currency balances was:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
UzZs/1 UsD 12,920.48 12,338.77
UZs/1 EUR 13,436.01 13,731.82

4. Significant accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statement and the reported amount of
income and expenses during the reporting period. Management evaluates its estimates and judgements on an
ongoing basis. Maragement bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors
that are believed  be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumpticns or conditions. The following estimates and judgments are considered important to the portrayal
of the Bank’s finanzial condition.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depend on the results of the SPPI and the business model test.
The Bank determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together
to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the serformance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the
performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated.

The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income
that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are
consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Bank's continuous
assessment of wrether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be
appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective
change to the classification of those assets.

Probability of default

PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon,
the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

PD for treasury operations is determined according to the Default Study from international rating agencies (S&P,
Fitch, Moody’s), wnich publish tabular data with the values of the probabilities of default. The probabilities of default
are maintained up to date and are updated on a periodic basis as the default statistics are updated. PD for individually
assessed loans of orporate, small and medium businesses is estimated using an internal rating model based on the
quantitative and cualitative characteristics of the borrower. The calculation of PD on loans assessed on a collective
basis is carried ou- on the basis of historical data using the migration matrices and roll-rates.

18



Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzoekistan Soums)

Loss Given Defauk

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
and those that the kender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit
enhancements.

LGD for treasury operations is determined according to the Default Study data from international rating agencies
(S&P, Fitch, Moody's) and depends on the type of debt on the financial asset: senior secured/unsecured, subordinated,
sovereign. In addition, LGD may be adjusted if collateral is provided for the asset, as well as if there are indications
of impairment for tre financial asset (Stage 2 or Stage 3).

LGD for collectively assessed loans is calculated based on an estimate of the recoverability of debt in case of the
pledged collateral sale with a discount period that corresponds to the pledged collateral implementation terms.

Exposure at Default

EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure
after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed
facilities. The Bank's modelling approach for EAD reflects expected changes in the balance outstanding over the
lifetime of the loan exposure that is permitted by the current contractual terms, such as amortization profiles, early
repayment or overpayment, changes in utilization of undrawn commitments and credit mitigation actions taken before
default. The Bank uses EAD models that reflect the characteristics of the portfolios.

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics

When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk
characteristics. The Bank monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on ongoing basis to assess
whether they contirue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change
there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets.

This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar
credit risk characte-istics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement between portfolios is
more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so
assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be
measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of
the portfolios differ

Measurement of allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL")

The allowances for ECL of financial assets in the financial statements have been determined on the basis of existing
economic and political conditions. The Bank is not in a position to predict what changes in conditions will take place
in Uzbekistan and what effect such changes might have on the adequacy of the allowances for ECL of financial assets
in future years.

ECLs are required t be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

e 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that resuit from those default events on the financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

o Full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial
instrument, (eferred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

The Bank defines individually significant loans as corporate loans which are in Stage 1 and Stage 2. ECL for individually
significant loans in Stage 2 and Stage 3 are assessed on an individual basis, whereas ECL for corporate loans in Stage
1 is assessed on a -ollective basis.

A loss allowance fo- full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an
amount equal to the 12-month ECL.
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Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzdekistan Soums)

5. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS)

New and amended JFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the current year.

The following ameniments and interpretations are effective for the Bank effective 1 January 2024:

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-Current 1 January 2024
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases—Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

The above standards and interpretations were reviewed by the Bank’s management but did not have a significant
effect on the financ.al statements of the Bank.

New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Bank has not applied the following new and revised
IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New or revised standard or interpretation Applicable to annual reporting years

beginning on or after
IFRS 18 - Presenta®ion and Disclosures in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaiies without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
Amendments to IAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2027

The Bank is currently assessing the possible impact of IFRS 18. Until the Bank has completed its review, it is not
possible to make a reasonable estimate of the financial impact.

The Bank does not 2xpect that the application of IFRS 19 and the amendments to IFRS 21 will have a material impact
on the Bank's finarncial statements in future periods.
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Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Cash balances witl the CBU 1,386,477 994,049
Cash on hand 413,624 238,097
Placements with other banks with original
maturities of less than three months 381,422 120,913
Correspondent accounts with other banks 133,091 200,802
Government bonds of the Republic of Uzbekistan 103,409 201,162
Total cash and cash equivalents, gross 2,418,023 1,755,023
Less: Allowance fo- expected credit losses (Note 22) (104) (122)
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,417,919 1,754,901

Interest rates of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 26.

The credit quality o~ cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on hand, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

summarized below:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Stage 1 2,004,399 1,516,926
Total cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on hand, gross 2,004,399 1,516,926
Less: Allowance fo- expected credit losses (Note 22) (104) (122)
Total cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on hand 2,004,295 1,516,804
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Notes to the Fimancial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2024

(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

The credit rating o cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on hand, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is

summarized below:

31 December 2024 Cash Correspond Placements Total
balances Government ent with other
with the bonds of the accounts banks with
CBU Republic of with other original
Uzbekistan banks maturities of
less than
three months
Neither past due nor
impaired
- CBU 1,386,477 103,409 - = 1,489,886
- Aa3 (Moody's) - - 27,914 - 27,914
- AA- (Fitch) B = = 80 80
- A+ (S&P) - = - 119 119
- A (S&P) - = - 52 52
- BBB- (S&P) - = 64,187 - 64,187
- BB- (Fitch) - - 39,673 79,850 119,523
- BB- (S&P) - m 1,286 - 1,286
- Ba3 (Moody's) - - - 1,797 1,797
- B1 (Moody's) - E - 47,901 47,901
- B (S&P) - - 31 86,473 86,504
- B (Fitch) s 79,932 79,932
- B2 (Moody's) - & - 85,218 85,218
Less: Allowance for
expected (15) (1) 3) (85) (104)
credit losses (Note 22)
Total cash and cash
equivalents, excluding 1,386,462 103,408 133,088 381,337 2,004,295
cash on hand
31 December 2023 Cash Government Correspondent Placements Total
balances bonds of the accounts with with other
with the CBU Republic of other banks banks with
Uzbekistan original
maturities
of less than
three
months
Neither past due mor
impaired
- CBU 994,049 201,162 - - 1,195,211
- Aa2 (Moody's) - - 89 - 89
- Al (Moody's) - = - 44 44
- A2 (Moody's) = - : 3 3
- BB+ (S&P) - - 12,594 - 12,594
- Ba3 (Moody's) - - - 120,187 120,187
- BB- (Fitch) - - 1,563 - 1,563
- BB- (S&P) - - 20,381 - 20,381
- B (S&P) - - 165,468 - 165,468
- B3 (Moody's) - - = 679 679
- CCC- (Fitch) - - 707 - 707
Less: Allowance for
expected credit (14) (53) (44) (11) (122)
losses (Note 22)
Total cash and cash
equivalents, excluding 994,035 201,109 200,758 120,902 1,516,804

cash on hand
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzpekistan Soums)

7. Due from banks

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Short-term placem=ants with other banks
with original maturties of more than three months 239,301 111,526
Restricted cash 6,794 5,011
Total due from banks, gross 246,095 116,537
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 22) (418) (166)
Total due from banks 245,677 116,371

Analysis by credit juality of amounts due from banks outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is

summarized below:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Stage 1 246,095 116,537
Total due from banks, gross 246,095 116,537
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 22) (418) (166)
Total due from banks 245,677 116,371

Analysis by credit rating of due from other banks outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is summarized

below:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Neither past due nor impaired
- AA- (Fitch) 1,292 111,602
- A+ (S&P) 5,168 -
- A (S&P) 258 _
- Ba3 (Moody's) 120,000 E
- BB- (S&P) 75 -
- B (S&P) 119,302 4,935
Less: Allowance fo- expected credit losses (Note 22) (418) (166)
Total due from banks 245,677 116,371
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

8. Loans to customers

Loans to customers comprise:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Corporate loans 3,357,844 2,581,333
Loans to individuak 1,241,326 1,844,346
Total loans to customers, gross 4,599,170 4,425,679
e 62219 (8,540
Total loans to customers 4,536,957 4,357,139

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Stage 1 4,016,470 3,969,101
Stage 2 165,735 146,564
Stage 3 416,965 310,014
Total loans to customers, gross 4,599,170 4,425,679
Less: Allowance for expected
credit losses (Note 22) (62,213) (68,540)
Total loans to customers 4,536,957 4,357,139
Loans to customers are granted to the following sectors:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Amount % Amount %

Manufacturing
Trade and services

2,191,986 47
1,113,008 24

1,532,396 35
994,129 22

Car loans 954,575 21 1,546,788 35
Individual Entrepreneurs 233,836 5 248,398 5
Mortgage loans 52,915 1 49,160 1
Financial services 36,712 1 39,215 1
Construction 16,138 1 15,593 1
Total loans to customers, gross 4,599,170 100 4,425,679 100

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had a concentration of loans of UZS 2,235,272 million to ten largest borrowers
that comprised 49% of the Bank’s total gross loan portfolio and 141% of the Bank’s total equity (31 December 2023:
UZS 1,716,682 million to ten largest borrowers that comprised 39% of the Bank’s total gross loan portfolio and 120%
of the Bank’s total equity). As at 31 December 2024, the allowance for expected credit losses created against these
loans was UZS 4,336 million (31 December 2023: UZS 11,372 million).

24
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Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by type of collateral, rather than the fair value of the

collateral itself:

Corporate

Loans to

31 December 2024 loans individuals Total
Unsecured loans - - -
Loans collateralized by:

- real estate 1,456,221 53,974 1,510,195
- |letter of surety and third-party guarantee 1,239,494 - 1,239,494
- equipment and inventory 367,165 - 367,165
- insurance 258,895 899,037 1,157,932
- vehicles 36,069 288,315 324,384
Total loans collateralized 3,357,844 1,241,326 4,599,170
Less: Allowance fcr expected credit losses (Note 22) (24,418) (37,795) (62,213)
Total loans to customers 3,333,426 1,203,531 4,536,957
31 December 2023 Corporate Loans to Total

loans individuals

Unsecured loans & - _
Loans collateralized by:

- real estate 1,335,056 49,942 1,384,998
- letter of surety &nd third-party guarantee 908,527 - 908,527
- equipment and inventory 316,776 - 316,776
- cash deposits 20,644 - 20,644
- vehicles 330 607,356 607,686
- insurance = 1,187,048 1,187,048
Total loans collateralized 2,581,333 1,844,346 4,425,679
Less: Allowance fcr expected credit losses (Note 22) (33,200) (35,340) (68,540)
Total loans to cLstomers 2,548,133 1,809,006 4,357,139
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Analysis by credit guality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Corporate Loans to

2
31 December 2024 loans individuals Total
Not past due loans 3,001,790 825,106 3,826,896
Total not past due loans (gross) 3,001,790 825,106 3,826,896
Past due loans:
- less than 30 days overdue 45,998 157,573 203,571
- 31 to 60 days ov=rdue - 63,376 63,376
- 61 to 90 days ov=ardue - 37,672 37,672
- 91 to 180 days awerdue - 58,847 58,847
- 181 to 360 days overdue - 51,336 51,336
- over 360 days overdue 47,416 47,416
Total past due laans (gross) 45,998 416,220 462,218
Loans individually determined
to be impaired (grass)
Not past due loans 66,282 - 66,282
Past due loans:
- less than 30 days overdue 71 - 71
- 31 to 60 days overdue 3,784 - 3,784
- 91 to 180 days cverdue 380 - 380
- 181 to 360 days overdue 4,186 - 4,186
- over 360 days overdue 235,353 - 235,353
Total individually impaired -
loans (gross) 310,056 310,056
- Allowance for ex>ected
credit losses on cdlective basis (6,057) (37,795) (43,852)
- Allowance for exoected
credit losses on individual basis (18,361) - (18,361)
Less: Allowance fcr expected
credit losses (Not 22) (24,418) (37,793) (62,213)
Total loans to customers 3,333,426 1,203,531 4,536,957
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzpekistan Soums)

Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

31 December 2023 Corporate Loans to Total
loans individuals

Not past due loans 2,299,380 1,423,817 3,723,197

Total not past due loans 2,299,380 1,423,817 3,723,197

Loans collectively determined
to be impaired (gress)
Past due loans:

- less than 30 days overdue 25,475 221,808 247,283
- 31 to 60 days ovardue - 93,457 93,457
- 61 to 90 days ovardue - 47,902 47,902
- 91 to 180 days owerdue - 41,140 41,140
-181 to 360 days overdue - 15,490 15,490
- over 360 days overdue - 732 732
Total past due laans 25,475 420,529 446,004

Loans individually Jetermined
to be impaired (grass)

Not past due loans 32,175 - 32,175
Past due loans:
- 61 to 90 days overdue 4,032 = 4,032
-181 to 360 days averdue 45,005 - 45,005
- over 360 days overdue 175,266 - 175,266
Total individuallv impaired loans 256,478 - 256,478
- Allowance for ex>ected

credit losses on zollective basis (14,888) (35,340) (50,228)
- Allowance for exdected

credit losses on individual basis (18,312) - (18,312)
Less: Allowance far expected
credit losses (Not= 22) (33,200) (35,340) (68,540)
Total loans to customers 2,548,133 1,809,006 4,357,139

Movement in allowznce for expected credit losses during 2024 was as follows:

Corporate Loans to

loans individuals Total

As at 1 January 2024 33,200 35,340 68,540

(Recovery of)/Impairment charge during the year (114,345) 2,455 (111,890)

Recovery of previausly written off balance 104,702 - 104,702

Effect of foreign cLrrency exchange difference 861 - 861

As at 31 December 2024 24,418 37,795 62,213
Movement in allowznce for expected credit losses during 2023 was as follows:

Corporate Loans to Total

loans individuals

As at 1 January 2023 41,195 18,281 59,476

(Recovery of)/Impairment charge during the year (33,732) 17,059 (16,673)

Recovery of previsusly written-off balance 23,203 = 23,203

Effect of foreign currency exchange difference 2,534 - 2,534

As at 31 December 2023 33,200 35,340 68,540
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Notes to the Fimancial Statements
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The tables below aralyze information about the changes in the gross carrying amount of loans to customers from 31

December 2023 to 31 December 2024:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount as
at 31 December 2023 3,969,101 146,564 310,014 4,425,679
Changes in the gross
carrying amount
- Transfer from stage 1 (211,382) 211,382 - -
- Transfer from stage 2 54,488 (196,877) 142,389 -
- Transfer from stage 3 - 14,199 (14,199) -
Changes due to modifications that did

not result in derecognition (569,934) (47,302) (42,037) (659,273)
New financial asseks originated 2,786,617 2 - 2,786,617
Financial assets that have

been derecognised (2,077,298) (32,329) (13,881) (2,123,508)
Recovery previoudly written off balance - 69,922 34,780 104,702
Foreign exchange differences 64,878 176 (101) 64,953
Gross carrying amount as
at 31 December 2024 4,016,470 165,735 416,965 4,599,170
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2024 (23,433) (8,919) (29,861) (62,213)

The tables below analyze information about the changes in the gross carrying

31 December 202z to 31 December 2023:

amount of loans to customers from

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount as
at 31 December 2022 2,211,405 73,441 220,069 2,504,915
Changes in the gross
carrying amount
- Transfer from szage 1 (246,140) 246,140 - -
- Transfer from szage 2 34,480 (149,607) 115,127 -
- Transfer from szage 3 - 172 (172) -
Changes due to Modifications that did
not result in d=recognition (436,552) (7,009) (15,876) (459,437)
New financial assets originated 3,384,547 - - 3,384,547
Financial assets that have
been derecognis=d (1,133,486) (17,025) (2,109) (1,152,620)
Recovery of prev ously written-off balance 4,764 - 18,439 23,203
Transfer to other financial assets - - (36,522) (36,522)
Foreign exchange differences 150,083 452 11,058 161,593
Gross carrying amount as
at 31 December 2023 3,969,101 146,564 310,014 4,425,679
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2023 (31,126) (9,197) (28,217) (68,540)

Geographical and interest rate analyses of loans to customers are disclosed in Note 26.




Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzoekistan Soumns)

9. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

31 December 31 December

In millions of Uzbexistan Soums 2024 2023
Ministry of Economry and Finance of the Republic of Uzbekistan 95,281 105,151
JSC Agrobank 40,662 -
Total financial assets at fair value through other 135,943 105,151

comprehensive income

During 2024, the Bank acquired the Treasury bills of 1SC Agrobank for the amount of UZS 39,922 million for five

years via the broke-age service of JSC “Halyk Finance”.

10. Investment securities at amortised cost

31 December

In millions of Uzbekistan Soums 2024
Central bank of Uzbekistan 412 447
JSC Hamkor bank 22 652
Less: allowance far expected credit losses (Note 22) (49)
Total investment securities at amortised cost 435 050
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Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

During 2023, the Benk entered into an investment agreement for the purchase of an administrative office located in
Tashkent City in the amount of UZS 289,106 million and made the initial payment in the amount of UZS 210,890
billion. During 2024 the Bank has made the final payment in the amount of UZS 78,216 million.

As at 31 December 2024, office and computer equipment and intangible assets amounted to UZS 194,956 million
UZS (31 December 2023: UZS 163,394 million) and increased mainly due to:

- ATMs, terminals and server equipment amounting UZS 50,920 million;

- Acquisition and development of bank operating software “Colvir” for corporate and individual clients in the amount
of UZS 10,351 mi lion;

- Acquisition of office and computer equipment with the value of UZS 6,330 million;

According to the decision of the Management Board #89 dated 27 November 2024, the Bank recognized the
repossessed collate-al (warehouse) in the amount of UZS 15,212 million as building in property, equipment and
intangible assets. Other buildings and premises for head office, branch and centers for retail services are leased by
the Bank. The Bank has no option to purchase the buildings under the lease agreement at the end of the lease term.

Lease liability as at 1 January 2023 27,125
Additions 23,921
Repayment (15,891)
Interest expense 7,543
Interest paid (7,543)
Lease liability as at 31 December 2023 35,155
Additions 12,769
Repayment (29,547)
Interest expense 6,118
Interest paid (6,118)
Lease liability as at 31 December 2024 18,377

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of right of use assets comprises UZS 17,471 million (31 December
2023: UZS 32,925 million) and lease payment liability in the amount of UZS 18,377 million (31 December 2023: uzs
35,155 million) in accordance with IFRS 16.

12. Investment property

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
Right of use land glot, transferred from property and equipment 13,371 13,371
Total rights to use land plot 13,371 13,371

According to the Tashkent city Khokim’s decision N2 593 from 26 April 2019, and decision N? 154 from 14 February
2020, the Bank acquired the right to permanent use of a land plot with a total area of 0.7 hectares, for the construction
of an office buildirg located at : Tashkent city, Mustakillik avenue, st. Kh.Alimjan and st. Abdulla Kodiriy, this
investment project was included in the Investment Program of the Republic of Uzbekistan for 2021-2023, developed
in the framework tie Republic of Uzbekistan President’s Decree N2 PP-4937 from 28 December 2020. At the same
time, from the moment of acquisition, taking into account the nature of the received permanent right to use the land
plot for the investment project, the Bank decided to account for this land plot as property, plant and equipment in
accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

However, on September 18, 2020, Tenge Bank received an open letter of appeal from Tashkent city, Mirzo Ulugbek
district’s residents (324 residents), regarding the objection that the park would be the site of the construction of the
administrative building of Tenge Bank, due to the fact that there are perennial trees and shrubs, in connection with
which they ask the Bank to demand from the city authorities to find another appropriate place for building an office.
On 2 March, 2021, the Bank received letter N2 01/08 from the Directorate regarding the suspension of design work
until a new locatior for the project is determined due to incoming claims and dissatisfaction related to the cutting of
trees on the allocat=d land plot from local residents. Taking into account the current situation regarding the temporary
suspension of construction work on the administrative building for the investment project, the Bank decided to transfer
the right to permament use of the land plot from the Bank's Long-Term Assets and continue accounting for the land
plot as part of investment property in accordance with IFRS 40 “Investment Property”.
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13. Other assets

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Other financial assets
Receivable from insurance company 28,137 36,522
Commission income receivable 2,509 518
Receivable from ex-employee 593 593
Other 4,003 2,013
Total other finamxcial assets, gross 35,242 39,646
Less: allowance fo- expected credit losses (Note 22) (18,667) (2,151)
Total other financial assets 16,575 37,495
Other non-financiat assets
Asset held for sale 33,986 15,905
Prepayment for sesvices 9,619 9,999
Prepayments for property, equipment and intangible assets 8,534 16,223
Other 1,068 3,146
Total other non-“inancial assets, gross 53,207 45,273
Total other asse=s 69,782 82,768

During 2024, the Bank received the partial amount of UZS 36,522 million which had initially been reclassified to other
financial assets due to non-compliance of borrowers with terms of loan agreements by the insurance company. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount receivable from insurance company is equal to UZS 28,137 million and
UZS 36,522 millior, meanwhile, the allowance for expected credit losses is equal to UZS 16,708 million and UZS
1,558 million, respectively.

During 2024, the Bank has repossessed collaterals from certain borrowers and classified them as assets held for sale.
The assets held for sale comprise four buildings and equipment.

14. Amourts due to credit institutions

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Short-term placements of credit institutions 72,941 92,265
Security deposit an payment transfers - 617
Total due to credit institutions 72,941 92,882

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the short-term placements of credit institutions comprise a short term placement
from local banks ir the amount of UZS 60,000 million and UZS 90,000 million, respectively.

Interest rate analysis of due to credit institutions are disclosed in Note 26.

15. Deposits from the Parent

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Long-term placements 3,026,590 2,599,222
Short-term placements 71,910 43,546
Correspondent accounts 871 838
Total deposits f-om the Parent 3,099,371 2,643,606

The placements of JSC Halyk bank are deposits in EUR and USD interest bearing of 4.77%-5.1% and 5.43%-6.65%
and in KZT interest bearing 14.0%.

Interest rate analyses of deposits from the Parent are disclosed in Note 26.
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Reconciliation of | abilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Bank’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilties arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the 3ank’s statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

non-cash changes

Effect of

31 December Financing exchange Accrued Interest 31 December
2023 cash flows rate changes interest paid 2024
BEposits fom 2,642,768 342,712 30,179 144,610 61,769 3,098,500
the Parent '’ r 1 r t ( r ) (4 r
Other borrowed funds - 26,048 1 89 (70) 26,068
non-cash changes
31 December Financing efg‘e:: oef Accrued Interest 31 December
2022 cash flows 9 interest paid 2023
rate changes
Deposits from 1,509,871 886,603 191,444 102,849 (47,999) 2,642,768

the Parent

16. Customer accounts

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Legal entities
- Current/settlement accounts 1,597,170 713,324
- Term deposits 605,386 525,856
Individuals
- Current/settlement accounts 103,501 85,313
- Term deposits 1,184,323 1,256,360
Total customer accounts 3,490,380 2,580,853

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank had top 10 customers with 41% and 39.5% of total customer accounts,

respectively.

An analysis of customer accounts by type is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
Amount % Amount %
Individuals 1,287,284 37 1,341,673 52
Private enterprises 1,544,180 44 888,109 34
State and budgetary organisations 335,967 10 190,072 7
Joint ventures 291,199 8 83,836 4
Insurance companies 31,210 1 77,163 3
Total customer accounts 3,490,380 100 2,580,853 100

Geographical and inerest rate analyses of customer accounts are disciosed in Note 26.
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17. Other liabilities

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Payables to emplovees 20,510 19,733
Lease payment liability 18,377 35,155
Payable to suppliers 7,461 19,106
Other payables 557 1,948
Total other financial liabilities 46,905 75,942
Other tax liabilities 3,027 2,898
Other 190 3,954
Total other non financial liabilities 3,217 6,852
Total other liabilities 50,122 82,794

18. Other borrowed funds

31 December

2024
Development ente-prise of trade under the MIFT of the Republic of Uzbekistan 25,858
JSC Centercreditbank 210
Total 26,068
19. Share capital
In millions of Uzbekistan Soums except Number of Ordinary Total

for number of shaces

outstanding shares shares

At 31 December 2022

229,800,000 1,149,000 1,149,000

Ordinary shares issued

At 31 December 2023

229,800,000 1,149,000 1,149,000

Ordinary shares issued

At 31 December 2024

229,800,000 1,149,000 1,149,000
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20. Net interest income

2024 2023
Interest income
Loans to customers 686,736 616,993
Cash and cash equivalents 107,553 113,235
Due from banks 31,158 12,828
Investment securities at amortised cost 28,440 -
Interest income or financial assets at FVTOCI 10,627 1,366
Total interest inoome 864,514 744,422
Interest expenses
Customer accounts 355,379 310,280
Deposits from the 2arent 144,610 102,849
Amounts due to cradit institutions 14,691 8,396
Lease payment liability 6,118 7,543
Other 385 =
Total interest exoense 521,183 429,068
Net interest income 343,331 315,354

The total interest income calculated for financial assets measured at amortized cost is UZS 864,514 million and UZS
744,422 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The total interest expense calculated
for financial liabilitizs measured at amortized cost is UZS 521,183 million and UZS 429,068 million for the period

ended 31 Decembe- 2024 and 2023, respectively.

21. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

2024 2023
Fee and commission income
Settlement transactions 23,095 29,182
Cash transactions 15,769 4,510
Foreign currency conversion operations 10,165 12,139
Other 875 144
Total fee and commission income 49,904 45,975
Fee and commission expense:
Settlement transactions 29,519 34,854
Foreign currency gonversion operations 19,082 6,817
Other 472 1,158
Total fee and commission expense 49,073 42,829
Net fee and commission income 831 3,146
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Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uztekistan Soums)

23. Operating expenses

Note 2024 2023
Staff costs 179,579 135,777
Depreciation and amortisation 11 40,254 26,622
Depreciation exper se on right-of-use assets 11 23,446 19,606
Membership fees 12,913 11,229
Professional servicas 24,460 10,446
Insurance 14,812 8,620
Advertising and publicity 9,611 9,215
Security services 9,389 6,714
Taxes other than imcome taxes 9,381 2,785
Communication charges 7,211 6,110
Rent and maintenznce 6,431 4,256
Stationery and supplies 2,011 6,874
Other operating expenses 17,547 9,401
Total operating expenses 357,045 257,655

24. Taxation

The Bank measures and records its current income tax payable and its tax bases in its assets and liabilities in
accordance with the tax regulations of the Republic of Uzbekistan where the Bank operates, which may differ from

IFRS.
(a) Components of income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises the following:

In millions of Uzbekistan Soums

2024 2023
Deferred tax charce 32,840 25,921
Current tax charge 22,202 20,104
Income tax expense 55,042 46,025

(b) Reconciliation between the tax expense and profit or loss multiplied by applicable tax rate

The Bank is subjedt to certain permanent tax differences due to the non-tax deductibility of certain expenses and
certain income beirg treated as non-taxable for tax purposes. Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for tax purposes. Temporary differences as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 relate mostly to different
methods/timing of income and expense recognition as well as to temporary differences generated by tax — book
bases’ differences for certain assets. The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Bank’s income is 20%.
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Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below:

2024 2023
Profit before tax 222,389 231,287
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate of 20% (2023: 20%) 44,478 38,497
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes
Income which is esempt from taxation:
- interest receivabk/received (5,688) (5,630)
Non-deductible expenses 13,676 13,201
Other permanent cifferences 2,576 (43)
Income tax expense for the year 55,042 46,025
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Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Fimancial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

25. Commizments and contingencies

Legal proceedings

From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank are received from customers and
counterparties. On the basis of its own estimate and both internal and external professional advice the management
is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims and accordingly no provision has been
made in these financial statements.

Contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in order to
meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not reflected in

the statement of firancial position.

The Bank uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet commitments as it
does for on-balance operations. The Bank’s financial commitments and contingencies comprise the following:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Loan commitments of the bank 500,685 3
Guarantees issued 7,513 7,175
Letters of credit 207 542
Total gross commitments and contingencies 508,405 7,720
Less: Cash held as security against letters of credit (207) -
Less: Allowance far expected credit losses (92) (16)
Total net commitments and contingencies 508,106 7,704

The total outstanding contractual amount of import letters of credit, loan commitments of the bank and guarantees
and Undrawn loan commitments do not represent any amount, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate
without being funded.

Credit related commnitments are denominated in currencies as follows:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

uzs 220,128 3
usD 211,515 7,175
Other 76,762 542
Total 508,405 7,720

26. Risk management policy

Risk management is fundamental to the Bank’s banking business and is an essential element of the Bank’s operations.
The main risks inherent to the Bank’s operations are those related to:

o Credit risk
e Liquidity risk
e Market risk

The Bank recognizes that it is essential to have efficient and effective risk management processes in place. To
enable this, the Ba1k has established a risk management framework, whose main purpose is to protect the Bank
from risk and altow it to achieve its performance objectives. Through the risk management framework, the Bank
manages the following risks:
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risx of loss arising for the Bank when a counterparty is unable to meet its contractual obligations on
time or in full. The risk management division plays an important role in managing and controlling the credit risk. This
division is responsible for credit risk identification, evaluation and implementation of control and monitoring measures.
The risk management division directly participates in credit decision-making processes and the consideration of
internal rules, regtlations and loan programs. In addition, the division provides independent recommendations
concerning credit exposure minimization measures, controls limits and monitors credit risks, provides relevant
reporting to management and ensures compliance of the credit process with external laws/regulations as well as
internal requirements and procedures.

The Bank structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation
to one borrower/cointerparty, or groups of borrowers, and to industry (and geographical) segments. Limits on the
level of credit risk concentration by industry sector are approved and controlled by the Assets and Liabilities
Management Comrrittee ("ALMC"). Limits on credit risk exposure with respect to credit programs (Small and medium
enterprises (SME) &nd retail) are approved by the Management Board. The exposure to any one borrower, including
banks and brokers, covers on and off-balance sheet exposures, which are reviewed by the Credit Committees and
the ALMC. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. The risk, that the counterparty will not meet its
obligations, is restricted by the limits covering on and off-balance sheet exposure.

Commitments to excend credit represent unused portions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.
The credit risk for cff-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as a probability of losses due to the inability of
counterparty to comply with the contractual terms and conditions. With respect to credit risk on commitments to
extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However,
the likely amount of the loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are
contingent upon counterparties maintaining specific credit standards.

The Bank applies the same credit policy to the contingent liabilities as it does to the financial instruments recorded in
the statement of financial position (i.e. the policy based on the procedures for approving the grant of loans, using
limits to mitigate te risk, and current monitoring). The Bank monitors the term to maturity of off-balance sheet
contingencies, as Ionger term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter term
commitments.

Structure and authorities of credit committees

Credit committees, the ALMC, the Management Board and the Board of Directors are credit authorities responsible
for the implementasion of the Bank’s Credit Policy and credit decision-making process.

ALMC

The primary goal o° the ALMC is profit maximization and to limit the risks of banking activities related to raising and
allocating funds. The main tasks of the ALMC are: liquidity management, interest rate risk management, price risk
and other banking -isks management.

The ALMC is also responsible for establishing country and counterparty-banks limits. The ALMC reports to the Board
of Directors.

Credit Committees of the Bank

The primary goal of the Credit Committee is the implementation of the Bank’s Credit Policy in terms of credit
operations and credit applications from corporate customers. Approval of loans to borrowers within the limits
established by the Management of the Board and the Council.

The Management Board

Approval of allowa-ces creation for bad debt, approval of loan limits for Credit Committees of the Bank, making
decisions on restruzturing loans, replacing or releasing collateral for loans related to Management’ authority, making
decisions for allowznces creation on repossessed assets.

Approval of the loan applications exceeding the authority of the Credit Committees.

The Council of th2 Bank

Approval of unsecured loans and loans to related parties, making decisions on restructuring loans, replacing or

releasing collateral for loans related to Council authority, approval of repossess assets taking. Approval of the loan
applications exceecing the authority of the Management of the Board.
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The sole shareholder of the Bank

Approval of the creztion of any loans, with the exception of those committed in the normal course of business of the
Bank. Approval of the final write-off loan or other debt from off-balance sheet items in accordance with the
requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Uzbekistan. Approval of the loan applications exceeding the
authority of the Council of the Bank.

Maximum Exposu-e

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependent on both individual risks and general
market risks.

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of financial assets and contingent liabilities. For
financial assets the maximum exposure equals to a carrying value of those assets prior to any offset or collateral. For
financial guarantees and other contingent liabilities the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the
Bank would have to pay if the guarantee was called on. The collateral pledged is represented by the carrying amount
of a financial instrument for which the collateral was received as security.

31 December 2024

Maximum exposure
and net exposure Collateral

after offset pledged
Cash and cash equivalents, excluding cash on hand 2,004,295 -
Due from banks 245,677 -
Loans to customers 4,536,957 4,536,957
Other financial assets 16,575 -
Commitments and contingencies 508,106 -

31 December 2023
Maximum exposure
and net exposure Collateral

after offset pledged
Cash and cash eqivalents, excluding cash on hand 1,516,804 -
Due from banks 116,371 -
Loans to customers 4,357,139 4,357,139
Other financial assets 37,495 -
Commitments and contingencies 7,720 -

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no any difference between maximum exposure and net exposure after
offset.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Bank monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the
Bank will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The Bank uses credit risk grades as a primary input into the determination of the term structure of the PD for
exposures. The Baqk collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by
jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. The information used is
both internal and external depending on the portfolio assessed.

The Bank uses different criteria to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly per portfolio of assets.
The criteria used ar= both quantitative changes in PDs as well as qualitative.

For treasury operat-ons, a significant increase in credit risk is determined individually for each financial asset on the
basis of quantitative indicators (rating downgrades by 3 or more steps, overdue by 1 day or more) and qualitative
indicators (negative information relating to the issuer/counterparty, including deterioration of financial condition,
change of sharehoders, the realization of the risk of loss of reputation, the systematic violation of prudential
standards).
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For bank loans assessed on a collective basis, a significant increase in credit risk is determined for loans with an
overdue of over 30 days since initial recognition, for loans assessed on an individual basis - additionally in case of the
decrease of internal credit rating and increase in lifetime PD on 10 percentage points in accordance with the internal
rating model (the presence of restructuring during deterioration of the financial position for classification to Stage 3),
expert opinions of #he Bank’s specialists based on the changes in the qualitative and quantitative indicators of the
borrower, a significant deterioration of collateral and other objective evidence of significant financial difficulties since
initial recognition. Stage 3 is determined for loans that are assessed on a collective basis with an overdue of over 60-
90 days, for loans assessed on an individual basis - over 90 days past due, restructuring related to the deterioration
of financial condition, deterioration of the internal credit rating and expert opinion of the Bank’s specialists.

The Bank considers that certain financial instruments with low credit risk at the reporting date, have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk. The Bank applies this policy to financial instruments issued to sovereign and
financial institutions only. The Bank considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its external credit
risk rating is equivaent to definition of 'investment grade' by international rating agencies.

The Bank has moni-oring procedures in place to make sure that the criteria used to identify significant increases in
credit are effective, meaning that significant increase in credit risk is identified before the exposure is defaulted or
when the asset becomes 30 days past due.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk resulting from the inability of the Bank to provide funds for repayment of its obligations in a
due time. The Bank’s liquidity risk arises when terms of assets on active operations and maturity dates of obligations
do not match.

Short-term liquidity needs are managed by the Bank’s Treasury function collecting daily cash inflow/outflow forecasts.
Long-term liquidity management is performed by ALMC by analyzing longer term liquidity positions and making
decisions on manacing significant gaps through various available means.

In order to manage liquidity risk, the Bank analyzes the financial assets and liabilities, and obligatory reserves taking
into account payment schedules for loans issued to customers. The following tables provide an analysis of financial
assets and liabilities grouped on the basis of the remaining period from the reporting date to the earliest of the
contractual maturity date or available maturity date, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in
the form of securities, which are included in the column “Less than 1 month” as they are available to meet the Bank's
short-term liquidity needs.

Demand and less From 1 to From 6 to Over 1
31 December 2024 than 1 month 6 months 12 months year Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,370,151 47,768 - - 2,417,919
Due from banks 48,534 197,143 - - 245,677
Loans to customers 189,514 685,303 1,518,657 2,143,483 4,536,957
Other financial ascets 16,575 - - - 16,575
Total financial assets 2,624,774 930,214 1,518,657 2,143,483 7,217,128
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit
institutions 12,941 60,000 - - 72,941
Deposits from the Parent 871 - 71,910 3,026,590 3,099,371
Customer accounts 3,073,469 173,289 197,077 46,545 3,490,380
Other borrowed funds - 210 25,858 - 26,068
Other financial liabilities 46,905 - - - 46,905
Total financial liabilities 3,134,186 233,499 294,845 3,073,135 6,735,665
Net liquidity gap based
on contractual maturities (509,412) 696,715 1,223,812 (929,652) 481,463
Cumulative liquidity gap
at 31 December 2024 (509,412) 187,303 1,411,115 481,463 -
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31 December 2023 Demand and From 1 to From 6 to Over 1 Total

less than 6 months 12 months year

1 month

Assets
Cash and cash equ valents 1,553,791 201,110 - - 1,754,901
Due from banks 6,516 109,855 - - 116,371
Loans to customers 188,886 619,282 1,184,504 2,364,467 4,357,139
Other financial assets 37,495 - = - 37,495
Total financial assets 1,786,688 930,247 1,184,504 2,364,467 6,265,906
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit
institutions 2,882 90,000 = - 92,882
Deposits from the Parent 1,156 84,563 - 2,557,887 2,643,606
Customer accounts 974,673 495,795 1,039,629 70,756 2,580,853
Other financial liab lities 42,349 8,213 10,545 14,835 75,942
Total financial liabilities 1,021,060 678,571 1,050,174 2,643,478 5,393,283
Net liquidity gap based
on contractual maturities 765,628 251,676 134,330 (279,011) 872,623
Cumulative liquicity gap at
31 December 2023 765,628 1,017,304 1,151,634 872,623 -

Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis of their contractual maturity and payment schedules. A significant
portion of the Bank's liabilities is represented by deposits from the Parent. Further analysis of the liquidity risk is
presented in the following tables in accordance with IFRS 7. The amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond
to the amounts recorded on the statement of financial position as the presentation below includes a maturity analysis
for financial liabilities and contingent liabilities based on the remaining contractual payments (including interest

payments).

The Bank monitors ¥emaining contractual maturities, which may be summarized as follows at 31 December 2024:

= Demand and less From 1 to From 6 to Over 1
31 December 2024 than 1 month 6 months 12 months year Total
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit
institutions 13,632 61,082 - - 74,714
Deposits from the Parent 15,653 73,909 162,334 3,260,241 3,512,137
Customer accounts 3,102,409 292,065 258,507 53,388 3,706,369
Other borrowed furds 44 423 26,049 - 26,516
Other financial liablities 46,905 - - = 46,905
Guarantees issued 7,513 - - = 7,513
Letters of credit 207 - = - 207
Loan commitments
of the Bank 500,685 B - - 500,685
Total potential fukture
payments for financial 3,687,048 427,479 446,890 3,313,629 7,875,046

obligations
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Remaining contractual maturities summarized as follows at 31 December 2023:

As at 31 December 2023 Demand and Fromito Fromé6to Over 1 Total

less than 6 months 12 months year

1 month

Liabilities
Amounts due to cradit
institutions 4,287 93,857 = - 98,144
Deposits from the 2arent 12,373 139,225 66,905 2,723,662 2,942,165
Customer accounts 1,004,832 630,379 1,096,276 73,300 2,804,787
Other financial liabilities 42,956 10,762 12,702 18,698 85,118
Guarantees issued - - < 7,175 7,175
Letters of credit - 449 93 - 542
Loan commitments 3 - - . 3
of the Bank
Total potential future
payments for 1,064,451 874,672 1,175,976 2,822,835 5,937,934

financial obligations

Customer accounts are classified in the above analysis based on contractual maturities. However, in accordance with
Uzbekistan Civil Code, individuals have a right to withdraw their deposits prior to maturity if they forfeit their right to
accrued interest.

Market risk

Market risk is a risk that Bank’s earnings or equity or its ability to meet business objectives will be adversely affected
by changes in marxet variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, securities prices and other basic
variables.

The Bank is exposed to market risks which include the following components:

. Risk of changes in interest rates (interest rate risk);
. Risk of changes in foreign exchange rates (currency risk);
Risk of changes in securities prices (price risk).

The objective of market risk management is to optimize risk/return, minimize losses in case of adverse events and
decrease deviation of factual financial results from the expected one.

Market risk management includes security portfolio management and control of open positions on currencies, interest
rates and derivatives. For these purposes ALMC fixes limits on security portfolios, open positions, stop-loss limits and
other limitations. Market risk limits are subject to review at least on an annual basis and should be monitored
continuously.

Interest rate risk

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is defined as the risk of interest income decrease, interest
expense increase ar negative impact on equity resulting from adverse changes of market interest rates. The Bank
determines interest rate risk resulting from assets and liabilities maturity dates (dates of interest rates repricing)
mismatch that are sensitive to the interest rates changes (risk of interest rates changes).

ALMC manages interest rate risks and market risks through the Management of the Bank’s position on interest rates
to reach positive inzerest margins.

The Bank manages interest rates by determining the Bank’s exposure to the interest rate risk using the approach
described by the Basel Committee on the principles for the management and supervision of interest rate risk. This
approach identifies the Bank's exposure to the interest rate risk by testing the impact of a parallel movement in
interest rates on assets and liabilities.

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk

The Management regularly reviews sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined based on
“reasonably possib e changes in the risk variable”. The Bank assesses the reasonably possible changes in interest
rates in UZS and fereign currencies separately, in which financial assets and liabilities are denominated due to the
different volatility cf interest rates.
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The Bank manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that could arise from
adverse changes in market conditions. The Risk management Department conducts monitoring of the Bank'’s current
financial performance, estimates the Bank’s sensitivity to changes in fair value interest rates and its influence on the
Bank'’s profitability and reports on them to the Management. The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to
interest rate risks. The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities at carrying

amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing or maturity dates.

Demand and

From 1 to From 6 to
31 December 2024 Iiss than 6 months 12 months Over 1 year Total
month
Total interest bearing
financial assets 560,684 930,214 1,518,657 2,143,483 5,153,038
Cash and cash
equivalents 331,209 47,768 - - 378,977
Due from banks 39,961 197,143 = = 237,104
Loans and advances to
customers 189,514 685,303 1,518,657 2,143,483 4,536,957
Total interest bearing
financial liabilites (1,358,943) (232,963) (293,383) (2,989,892) (4,875,181)
Amounts due to cradit
institutions = (60,000) - - (60,000)
Deposits from the 2arent - - (71,579) (2,944,079) (3,015,658)
Customer accounts (1,358,943) (172,963) (195,736) (45,813) (1,773,455)
Other borrowed funds - - (26,068) - (26,068)
Net interest
sensitivity gap (798,259) 697,251 1,225,274 (846,409) 277,857
at 31 Decembesn 2024
Demand and From 1 to From6to Over1year Total
As at 31 December 2023 less than 6 months 12 months
1 month
Total interest bearing
financial assets 736,593 930,247 1,184,504 2,364,467 5,215,811
Cash and cash
equivalents 546,201 201,110 - - 747,311
Due from banks 1,506 109,855 - 111,361
Loans to customers 188,886 619,282 1,184,504 2,364,467 4,357,139
Total interest bearing
financial liabilities (176,453) (670,358) (1,039,629) (2,628,643) (4,515,083)
Amounts due to credit
institutions - (90,000) - = (90,000)
Deposits from the Parent (318) (84,563) = (2,557,887) (2,642,768)
Customer accounts (176,135) (495,795) (1,039,629) (70,756) (1,782,315)
Net interest
sensitivity gap 560,140 259,889 144,875 (264,176) 700,728

at 31 December 2023

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank was not exposed to floating interest rates and all interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities had fixed interest rate. Interest rates will change after the maturity of interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, when the repricing occurs.

Currency Risk

The Bank is exposed to currency risk. Currency risk arises from open positions in foreign currencies and adverse
movements of market exchange rates that may have a negative impact on the financial performance of the Bank.

The ALMC controls currency risk by management of the open currency position based on the estimations of UZS
devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, which gives the Bank an opportunity to minimize losses from
significant currency rate fluctuations of national and foreign currencies.

The treasury department performs daily monitoring of the Bank’s open currency position with the aim to comply with
the requirements o the regulatory authority
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The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates (primarily USD) on
its financial position, results of operations and cash flows, which are monitored daily. ALMC sets limits on the level of
exposure by currencies within the authority approved by the Board of Directors. These limits also comply with the
minimum requirements of the regulator authority. The Bank’s principal cash flows are generated in UZS and USD. As
a result, potential movements in the exchange rate between UZS and USD will affect the carrying values of the Bank's
USD denominated monetary assets and liabilities. Currency risk is assessed in relation to the statement of financial
position and off-balance sheet positions.

The current Bank's sensitivity to fluctuations in exchange rates is acceptable due to the fact that the off-balance sheet
items significantly reutralize the statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is as follows:

uzs uUsbD Euros Other Total
Monetary financial assets
Cash and cash eqLivalents 989,304 1,206,102 159,085 63,428 2,417,919
Due from banks 159,915 85,762 - - 245,677
Loans to customers 1,688,104 2,477,298 315,419 56,136 4,536,957
Other financial ass=ts 16,295 72 = 208 16,575
Total financial assets 2,853,618 3,769,234 474,504 119,772 7,217,128
Monetary financial liabilities
Amounts due to cradit
institutions 71,307 - - 1,634 72,941
Deposits from the Parent 147 2,629,189 391,747 78,288 3,099,371
Customer accounts 2,593,281 735,387 11,574 150,138 3,490,380
Other borrowed fuds - 25,858 = 210 26,068
Other financial liatilities 46,904 - & 1 46,905
Total financial liabilities 2,711,639 3,390,434 403,321 230,271 6,735,665
Net balance sheet position 141,979 378,800 71,183 (110,499) 481,463
Net off-balance
sheet position 220,128 211,515 - 76,762 508,405
Net position at
31 December 2024 (78,149) 167,285 71,183 (187,261) (26,942)
UZS UsD Euros Other Total
Monetary financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,063,469 586,686 92,354 12,392 1,754,901
Due from banks 4,936 111,360 75 - 116,371
Loans to custome=s 2,118,032 1,839,024 319,574 80,509 4,357,139
Other financial assets 37,247 248 = - 37,495
Total financial assets 3,223,684 2,537,318 412,003 92,901 6,265,906
Monetary financ al
liabilities
Amounts due to aredit
institutions 90,493 643 311 1,435 92,882
Deposits from the Parent 147 2,065,776 495,105 82,578 2,643,606
Customer accounzs 2,208,782 367,846 2,630 1,595 2,580,853
Other financial liabilities 64,413 10,432 - 1,097 75,942
Total financial | abilities 2,363,835 2,444,697 498,046 86,705 5,393,283
Net balance sheet
position 859,849 92,621 (86,043) 6,196 872,623
Net off-bal_a_nce 3 7,175 _ _ 7,178
sheet position
Net position at 859,846 85,446  (86,043) 6,196 865,445

31 December 2023
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Sensitivity analysis of currency risk

The table below incicates the currencies in which the Bank had exposure at 31 December 2024 and 2023, and its
forecasted cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonable possible movement of the currency rate with
all other variables held constant on the statement of profit or loss. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential
net reduction in the statement of profit or loss, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase.

Sensitivity of curremcy risk is assessed based on balance sheet and off-balance sheet open currency positions. The
Management of the Bank believes income tax not to have substantial effect for the purpose of currency risk
management.

The impact on income before tax and equity, based on asset values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,was calculated

using the annual analysis of the exchange rates volatility based on historical data of the exchange rates dynamics
over the period; see the details in the foliowing table:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Impact on Impact on

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollars strengthening by 10% (2023: 10%) 16,728 8,545
US Dollars weakening by 10% (2023: 10%) (16,728) (8,545)
Euro strengtheninc by 10% (2023: 10%) 7,118 (8,604)
Euro weakening by 10% (2023: 10%) (7,118) 8,604

Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables damonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged.
In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted that these
sensitivities are noa-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these
results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Bank’s assets and liabilities are actively managed.
Additionally, the financial position of the Bank may vary at the time that any actual market movement occurs. For
example, the Bank’s financial risk management strategy aims to manage the exposure to market fluctuations. As
investment markets move past various trigger levels, management actions could include selling investments,
changing investment portfolio allocation and taking other protective action. Consequently, the actual impact of a
change in the assumnptions may not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held at market value on
the statement of financial position. In these circumstances, the different measurement bases for liabilities and assets
may lead to volatility in equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate
potential risk that oly represent the Bank’s view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with
any certainty.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices,
where those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its issuer, or factors affecting all
securities traded in the market. The Bank is exposed to price risks of its products which are subject to general and
specific market fluctuations.

The Bank has no material exposure to equity price risk.

The Bank is exposed to prepayment risk through providing fixed loans, which give the borrower the right to early
repay the loans. Th=2 Bank’s current profit or loss and equity at the current balance sheet date would not have been
significantly impact=d by changes in prepayment rates because such loans are carried at amortised cost and the
prepayment right is at or close to the amortised cost of the customers. The Bank monitors interest rates for its
financial instruments. The table below summarises interest rates based on reports reviewed by key management
personnel:

49



Joint Stock Commercial Bank “Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year enced 31 December 2024

(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

31 December 2024

In % p.a. uzs UsbD Euro Other

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.0%-18.5% 0.0%-9.0% = -

Due from banks 0.0%-20.0% 0.0%-7.0% - -

Loans to customers 5.0%-49.0% 4,0%-12.08% 6.5%-8.0% 14.5%

Liabilities

Amounts due to cr=dit

institutions 14.0% - - =

Deposits from the Parent - 5.43%-6.65% 4.77%-5.10% 14.0%

Customer accounts 0.0%-24.0% & ' -

Other borrowed funds - 0.0%-2.0% = =
31 December 2023

In % p.a. UZsS USD Euro Other

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from banks
Loans to customers 5

0.0%-19.00%
0.0%-19.00%
.00%-38.90%

5.50%-12.87%

7.50%-7.80%
6.50%-9.00%

15.60%-22.85%

Liabilities

Amounts due to ¢-edit
institutions

Deposits from the Parent
Customer accounts

0.0%-19.00%

= 4.30%-5.60%

0.0%-23.00%

5.10%-5.60%

16.50%-16.70%

The geographical concentration of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out

below:

Uzbekistan OECD Non-OECD Total
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,325,571 28,162 64,186 2,417,919
Due from banks 238,959 6,718 - 245,677
Loans to customers 4,536,957 n - 4,536,957
Other financial assets 16,575 - - 16,575
Total financial assets 7,118,062 34,880 64,186 7,217,128
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 71,751 - 1,190 72,941
Deposits from the Parent - - 3,099,371 3,099,371
Customer accounts 3,490,380 - - 3,490,380
Other borrowed funds 25,858 - 210 26,068
Other financial liabilities 46,905 - - 46,905
Total financial liabilities 3,634,894 - 3,100,771 6,735,665
Net position in cn-balance sheet
financial instruments 3,483,168 34,880 (3,036,585) 481,463
Net off-balance sheet position 508,405 - - 508,405
hat position at 2,974,763 34,880  (3,036,585)  (26,942)

31 December 2024
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Uzbekistan OECD Non OECD Total
Financial assets
Cash and cash eqtivalents 1,721,085 135 33,681 1,754,901
Due from banks 111,435 4,936 - 116,371
Loans to customers 4,357,139 = - 4,357,139
Other financial assets 37,299 157 39 37,495
Total financial assets 6,226,958 5,228 33,720 6,265,906
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions - - 92,882 92,882
Deposits from the Parent - - 2,643,606 2,643,606
Customer accounts 2,580,853 - - 2,580,853
Other financial liakilities 75,942 - - 75,942
Total financial liabilities 2,656,795 - 2,736,488 5,393,283
Net position in an-balance sheet 3,570,163 5,228 (2,702,768) 872,623

financial instruments

Net off-balance sheet position 7,175 - - 7,175

Net position at
31 December 2023

3,562,988 5,228 (2,702,768) 865,448

Assets, liabilities and credit related commitments have been based on the country in which the counterparty is located.
Cash on hand has been allocated based on the country in which they are physically held. Non-OECD includes
Kazakhstan and Tajkistan.

27. Capital risk management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which are a broader concept than the “equity” on the face of the
statement of financal position, are as follows:

e To comply with the capital requirements set by the CBU;
« To safeguerd the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

e To mairtain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Bank manages regulatory capital as Bank’s capital. The Bank’s objectives when managing capital are to comply
with the capital recuirements set by the CBU, and to safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern.
Compliance with capital adequacy ratios set by the CBU is monitored monthly with reports outlining their calculation
reviewed and signed by the Chairman of the Board and Chief Accountant.

Under the current capital requirements set by the CBU, banks have to maintain ratios of (actual ratios given below
are unaudited):

« Ratio of regulatory capital to risk weighted assets (*Regulatory capital ratio”) above a prescribed minimum
level of 12%. Actual ratio as at 31 December 2024: 19.5% (31 December 2023: 20.6%).

« Ratio of Bznk's tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets (“Capital adequacy ratio”) above a prescribed minimum
level of 10%. Actual ratio as at 31 December 2024: 18.2% (31 December 2023: 19.2%).

« Ratio of Bznk’s tier 1 capital to total assets less intangibles ("Leverage ratio”) above a prescribed minimum
level of 6.0%. Actual ratio as at 31 December 2024: 13.9% (31 December 2023: 18.2%).

51



Joint Stock Commercial Bank “"Tenge Bank”

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(in millions of Uzbekistan Soums)

Total capital is based on the Bank’s reports prepared under Uzbekistan Accounting Legislation and related instructions
and comprise:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
In millions of Uzbekistan soums (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Fully paid shares 1,149,000 1,149,000
Retained earnings 111,562 71,125
Intangible assets - (18,635)
Adjusted Tier 1 capital 1,260,562 1,201,490
Capital Reserves 6,475 4,347
Total tier 1 capital 1,267,037 1,205,837
Net profit for the wear 36,369 47,510
Impairment provision on standard assets 52,677 43,219
Total tier 2 capital 89,046 90,729
_Total regulatory capital 1,356,083 1,296,566
Risk weighted ass2ts and off-balance assets 6,487,001 6,009,679
Operational risk 408,802 250,690
Market risk 53,398 32,512
Adjusted total risk-weighted assets 6,949,201 6,292,881
Assets for leverage ratio 9,105,739 6,629,132
Capital adequacy ratios:
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 18.23% 19.16%
Total regulatory capital adequacy ratio 19.51% 20.60%
Leverage ratio 13.91% 18.19%
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28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at a measurement date.

Fair value measurements are analyzed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements
at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two measurements are
valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, cerived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements are valuations not based on observable
market data (that s, unobservable inputs). Management applies judgement in categorizing financial instruments
using the fair value ierarchy. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment,
that measurement & a Level 3 measurement. The significance of a valuation input is assessed against the fair value
measurement in its entirety.

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair
value disclosures are required)

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities except for those shown below
approximate their carrying value.

The fair value of th= financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income were determined based on
the quoted prices ir a market that is not active. The Management believes that this is the best reliable independent
quoted prices availeble.

Financial
Assets/ Valuation Relationship
Liabilities - - . - Significant of
= IR v ety "*CMISC)  unobservable  unobservable
at 31 . input(s) inputs to fair
input(s)
December value
2024
Future cash
flows are
estimated based
on The greater the
Loans to average interest - discount - the
customers 4,536,957 4,549,769 Level 3 rates (from Not applicable smaller the fair
observable value
Statistical
bulletin of the
CBU)
Future cash
flows are
estimated based
on The greater the
Customer average interest . discount - the
accounts 3,490,380 3,506,161 Level 2 rates (from Not applicable smaller the fair

observable
Statistical
bulletin of the
CBU)

value
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As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities except for those shown below
approximate their carrying value.

Financial Relati hi
Assets/ Valuation Significant elations :)';
Liabilities as Carrying Fair Fair value technique(s) bg bl b bl
at 31 value value hierarchy and key unobservable unobserva e
December input(s) input(s) inputs to fair
2023 value
Future cash
flows are The greater
estimated based on the
Loans to average interest . discount - the
customers 4,357,139 4,363,294 Level 3 rates (from Not applicable smaller the
observable fair
Statistical value
bulletin of the CBU)
Future cash
flows are The greater
estimated based on the
Customer average interest . discount - the
accounts 2,580,853 2,554,302 Level 2 rates (from Not applicable smaller the
observable fair
Statistical value

bulletin of the CBU)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank determined fair value for some of its financial assets and liabilities using
the discounted cash flow model by applying CBU statistical bulletin, which became open to public starting 2019. Such
financial instruments were categorized as Level 2.

For those financial instruments, where interest rates were not directly available in the CBU’s Statistical bulletin, the
Management uses ciscounted cash flow model by applying market interest rates based on the rates of the deals
concluded towards the end of the reporting period, thereby, categorizing such instruments as Level 3.

29. Related party transactions

Related parties or transactions with related parties are assessed in accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party
Disclosures”. Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not. Terms, conditions and
amounts of related farty transactions are usually same as those between unrelated parties. Considering each possible
related party not onby, their legal status is taken into account but also the substance of the relationship between these
parties.

Other related parties include entities which are under common control of the Parent.

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had the following transactions outstanding with related parties:

31 December 2024

Total category as
Related party per the financial

balances statements caption
Cash and cash equivalents 64,186 2,417,919
- Parent 64,186
Deposits from the Farent 3,099,371 3,099,371
- Parent 3,099,371
Loans and Advances to customers 396 4,536,957
- Key management personal 396
Customer accounts 4,695 3,490,380
- key management personal 2,958
- other related entities 1,737
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Included in the statements of profit or loss for the period ended 31 December 2024, are the following amounts which

arose due to transactions with related parties:

31 December 2024

Related party Total category as

transactions per the financial

statements

caption

Interest Income 1088 864,514
- Parent 1,088

Interest expense 144,610 521,183
- Parent 144,610

Fee and commission income 16 49,904
- other related en#ties 16

Fee and commission Expense 2,025 49,073
- Parent 1,091
- key managemen® personal 16
- other related entties 918

Operating expenses 9,324 357,045
- Parent 682
- key managemen= personal 8,642

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had the following transactions outstanding with related parties:

31 December 2023

Total category as

Relat::l ::;‘s' per the financial

statements caption

Cash and cash equvalents 12,594 1,754,901
- Parent 12,594

Deposits from the Parent 2,643,629 2,643,606
- Parent 2,643,606
- Other related entities 23

Loans and advances to customers 12 4,357,139
- Key management personal 12

Customer accounts 6,666 2,580,853
- key management personal 2,350
- other related entizies 4,316

Included in the statements of profit or loss for the period ended 31 December 2023, are the following amounts which

arose due to transactions with related parties:

31 December 2023

Total category as

Relat::I::crg per the financial

statements caption

Interest expense 102,849 429,068
- Parent 102,849

Fee and commissiol income 2 45,975
- other related entivies 2

Fee and commission Expense 2,834 42,829
- Parent 2702
- Key management personal 93
- other related entizies 39

Operating expenses 7,607 257,655
- Parent 29
- Key management personal 7,578
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31 December 31 December

2024 2023
Short-term benefits:
- Salaries and other short-term benefits 8,460 6,766
- Social Security cests 182 812
Total key manag=ment personnel compensation 8,642 7,578

30. Subsequent events

On 18 February 2025, the President of Uzbekistan approved the revised edition of the Law “On Guarantees for the
protection of deposts in banks” according to which the maximum guaranteed amount is now set at UZS 200 million
per depositor (Individual) in one bank. The new regulation will not affect previously opened deposits, provided that
their terms have nat been modified after the effective date of the changes in the Law.

On 20 March 2025, the Central Bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan increased the base rate by 0.5 percentage points,
raising it from 13.5% to 14.0% per annum.

No other events requiring disclosure or adjustment to the financial statements have occurred subsequent to the
reporting date and up to the date of their approval.

31. Approval of the financial statements

The financial statermrents were approved by the Management of the Bank on 17 June 2025.
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